### **Electronically Filed** Dec 04 2023 09:04 PM Elizabeth A. Brown IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVAD Clerk of Supreme Court

EDGEWORTH FAMILY TRUST; AND AMERICAN GRATING, LLC,

Appellants,

Supreme Court Case No. 86676

VS.

Dist. Ct. Case No. A-18-767242-C Consolidated with A-16-738444-C

DANIEL S. SIMON; THE LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL S. SIMON.

Respondents,

#### EDGEWORTH APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543 Rosa Solis-Rainey, Bar No. 7921 MORRIS LAW GROUP 801 South Rancho Dr., Ste. B4 Las Vegas, NV 89106 Phone: 702-474-9400

Fax: 702-474-9422

sm@morrislawgroup.com rsr@morrislawgroup.com

#### **RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellants timely appealed from the district court's March 28, 2023 Fifth Amended Decision and Order on Motion to Adjudicate Lien, that again refused to comply with the mandate of this Court expressed in its Order of September 16, 2022. AA1307 (Remittitur was filed on December 15, 2022 (AA1348). Notice of entry of the order was filed on April 24, 2023. AA1749.

Appellants' notice of appeal was timely filed on May 24, 2023, (AA1782) pursuant to the direct appeal provisions of Nev. R. App. P. 3A(b)(1). Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over all issues presented in this appeal.

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(12). The appeal arises out of the district court's failure on remand, twice, to adhere to this Court's mandates in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On September 27, 2022, again before this Court returned jurisdiction to the district court, it entered the Fourth Amended Decision and Order on Motion to Adjudicate Lien. AA1318-43; *see Buffington v. State*, 110 Nev. 124, 126, 868 P.2d 643, 644 (1994); Nev. Rev. Stat. 177.155; Nev. Rev. Stat. 177.305. Notice of entry of that premature order was not given. Once remittitur issued, briefing ensued and the Fifth Amended Decision and Order on Motion to Adjudicate Lien that is the subject of this appeal issued, and was challenged by writ, which has been fully briefed but has not been decided (Case No. 86467). Thus, the Edgeworths have proceeded with this timely-filed appeal.

Cases Nos. 77678 and 83258/83260. *Edgeworth Family Trust v. Simon*, 477 P.3d 1129 (Table) (unpublished) (Nev. 2020); *Edgeworth Family Trust v. Simon* (*EFT II*), 516 P.3d 676 (Nev. 2022) (Table).

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED

A. Did the district court again err by ignoring this Court's express mandate in two previous appeals to set out an evidentiary basis under *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank,* 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969), that would justify a quantum meruit award to Simon of \$200,000 for 71.10 hours of *post-discharge* administrative services?<sup>2</sup>

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Simon represented the Edgeworth Appellants in a property damage case in 2016 and 2017 (referred to herein as "Viking" action) until "the Edgeworths constructively discharged him on November 29, 2017." AA0412. Before the constructive discharge, Simon had retained counsel and considered the Edgeworths adversaries, but he did not disclose the conflict to the Edgeworths immediately or, when post-discharge, he continued to work for a brief time. Prior to his discharge, Simon had billed the Edgeworths at the rate of \$550 per hour in four invoices from inception

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This was the second issue raised in the pending Writ Petition in Case No. 86467. Relief was sought by way of a writ petition because of the repeat nature of the district court's error, which the Edgeworths believed warranted extraordinary relief, as set forth in the first issue in their writ petition.

of his representation to September 29, 2017, for a total of \$367,606, which they paid along with almost \$115,000 in invoiced costs. AA0052.

The terms to settle the Viking case were agreed to on November 15, 2017, and the same day, the Edgeworths again asked Simon to provide any unpaid invoices for his services and costs. *See* AA0005:22-25; AA1717; AA0052-53 (¶¶13, 14);. Rather than do that, he summoned the Edgeworths to his office to discuss a retainer agreement he had just prepared to give himself \$1.5 million beyond what they had already paid him for his services. AA0053. Also on the same day, Simon retained counsel to represent him against the Edgeworths, without informing them of the conflict. AA0152. The Edgeworths rejected Simon's written demand and retained the firm of Vannah & Vannah on November 29, 2017, to represent them. AA0053 (¶17). Simon then filed an attorney lien. *Id.* at ¶20.

The district court adjudicated Simon's lien in 2018 and awarded him approximately \$285,000 for services rendered from September 19 to November 29, 2017, at his implied-contract rate of \$550 per hour and \$275 per hour for his associates. AA0065. The district court also awarded Simon \$200,000 in quantum meruit for service he rendered for a short time after his discharge on November 29, 2017. AA0069. An appeal by the Edgeworths followed.

On December 30, 2020, this Court decided the appeal and "vacat[ed] the district court's grant of \$200,000 in quantum meruit for post-discharge work and remand[ed] for the district court to make findings

regarding the basis of its award." *Edgeworth Family Trust*, 477 P. 3d 1129 at \*2 (2020). The Court said "it is unclear whether the \$200,000 [in quantum meruit] is a reasonable amount to award for the work done after the constructive discharge." *Id.* The Court pointed out that the disputed award was based on findings "referencing work performed before the constructive discharge, for which Simon had already been compensated under the terms of the implied contract, [and] cannot form the basis of quantum meruit award." *Id.* 

In her post-remand order of April 19, 2021 (reconsideration denied on June 18, 2021), the district court merely reiterated the findings that supported the award for services Simon performed *before* he was constructively discharged as the basis for the \$200,000 quantum meruit award for his *post*-discharge work. AA0644-48.

The Edgeworths again appealed and on September 16, 2022, this Court again vacated and remanded with clear instructions that the district court again did not follow. *EFT II*, 516 P.3d 676; AA1313-16. The district court again did "not make any other findings of fact regarding work Simon completed *post-discharge*" to justify the windfall awarded. She also ignored that some of the work Simon invoiced was for his own benefit or directly contrary to his client's instructions (i.e. removal of the confidentiality clause), as well as Simon's misrepresentations to his clients and his undisclosed conflict of interest. This third appeal followed.

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court has had the facts of this case before it in two separate appeals (Case Nos. 77678 and 83258/83260), in the Edgeworths' partially successful writ petition to obtain their complete case file from Real Parties in Interest Daniel Simon and his firm (collectively "Simon") (Case No. 84159), and in the Edgeworths' pending writ petition (Case No. 86467). The relevant facts for this third appeal are therefore only very briefly set forth here.

#### A. THE UNDERLYING LITIGATION.

The Edgeworths retained Simon to represent them in a property damage/product defect case against Viking and Lange Plumbing on *his* terms. AA0409-10. Simon billed the Edgeworths \$368,588.70 for his time and \$114,864.39 in costs.<sup>3</sup> AA0655. Simon failed to memorialize the terms of his representation in writing, AA0410, but he consistently billed the Edgeworths for his services at the hourly rates *he selected* for himself (\$550) and his associates (\$275), and the Edgeworths promptly paid each of his invoices in full. *Id.* After a multi-million settlement was reached in the Viking case on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> With the district court's \$284,982.50 award for the 71 unbilled days of predischarge services, and the additional \$68,844.93 in costs (AA1738:22), the Edgeworths **have already paid** Simon a total of **\$837,280.52**.

November 15, 2017, and while he said settlement was being memorialized, Simon demanded a change in the terms of his compensation. AA0720-25.

By November 27, 2017, Simon had not provided any draft memorializing the Viking settlement, so the Edgeworths asked him to provide them with all documentation he had regarding the settlement. AA0673-76; AA0791. In response, Simon falsely told them he had not heard anything about their Viking settlement, when he was in fact discussing settlement with Viking's lawyers that very morning and had received at least one draft of the agreement. Compare AA1613 (Simon's 4:58 p.m. email suggesting the settlement draft was not started before November 27th "due to the holidays") with AA1558 (showing that Simon had been sent at least one draft of the settlement agreement by 4:48 p.m. on the 27th).<sup>4</sup> That same day and by Simon's own admission after he finished negotiating the final Viking settlement terms, Simon sent the Edgeworths his demand for more money, which confirmed his earlier threat that unless they accepted his new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In prior proceedings, including before this Court, Simon denied the existence of other settlement drafts, claiming all negotiations were in-person. AA0016:18-24; AA1553; *but see* AA1385 n. 5 and AA1556-82. Only because this Court ordered him to produce his complete file in 2022 do the Edgeworths now have some documentary evidence that Simon was not truthful on the subject.

fee demand, the settlement would be jeopardized. AA0721-28. He told the Edgeworths that if they did not accept his post-settlement demand, "I cannot continue to lose money to help you." AA0725. On the same day as this demand, Simon retained counsel to represent him against the Edgeworths, but neglected to notify them that he now considered them adversaries. AA0152. The Edgeworths rejected his written demand and retained Vannah & Vannah on November 29, 2017 to protect their interests. AA0687.

On November 30, 2017, before learning that the Edgeworths had retained Vannah, Simon for the first time sent the Edgeworths a draft of the Viking settlement, which *included terms* that he testified before Judge Tierra Jones he had *negotiated out* of the agreement on or *before* November 27, 2017. AA0689-96. Within hours of learning of Vannah's involvement, Simon sent a final Viking settlement agreement with revised terms he claimed he had negotiated *that* day, November 30 – contrary to his testimony that he had negotiated all terms by November 27 – and filed a lien. AA697-705; *compare* date he says he negotiated the agreement at AA0698 *with* his testimony at AA0718. The Edgeworths signed the Viking settlement on December 1, 2017. AA0052:22-24; and AA0058:2-4. When Simon would not turn over the settlement checks he had received from Viking or provide a

final invoice for services to the Edgeworths, as they had been requesting, they initiated litigation against him, and Simon moved to foreclose on his lien.

Several months later in 2018, the district court adjudicated Simon's charging lien for a *total* of \$484,982.50 (AA0070), which *includes* the \$200,000 at issue here, *not* the \$2.4+ million claimed by Simon in his lien.<sup>5</sup> Notwithstanding this fact, *for over five years* Simon refused to release the \$1.5M+ excess between the amount the district court adjudicated as the total lien amount and the millions of dollars Simon claimed in his lien.<sup>6</sup> *Compare* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The net lien amount claimed was \$1,977,843.80 million after deducting the \$367,606.25 in fees already paid. AA0781-82. The Edgeworths had also paid \$118,846.84 in costs, AA0052:16, increasing the total claimed by Simon to \$2,464,296.89 (over 40% of the Viking settlement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Although he could not point to an order confirming his allegations – because there was no such order – Simon repeatedly and *falsely* reported in subsequent pleadings that the district court had ordered him *not* to release the funds. AA0823 (reporting to a different court that "[t]he disputed funds remain held in trust not because Simon unilaterally refused to release the money, but because the Court [Judge Tierra Jones] ordered that the money should not be distributed pending appeal"); AA0824 (falsely reporting to another district court that "Judge Jones ordered the funds remain in the account after Edgeworths appealed to the Supreme Court."); AA0827 (again falsely reporting in other proceedings he initiated that "Only the disputed funds remain in the special trust account. Simon is following the District Court order to keep the disputed funds safe pending appeal"). On February

AA0781-82 *with* AA0070. Of the \$484,982.50 award, \$284,982.50 was for *unbilled* pre-discharge work between September 19 and November 29, 2017, which Simon described in his "superbill" and the district court fully accepted without reservation. The remaining \$200,000 which is the subject of this writ petition, as it was in the two prior appeals, was for 71.10 hours of administrative post-discharge work that the district court has yet to demonstrate is reasonable and supported by *Brunzell*.

#### B. THE EDGEWORTHS' FIRST APPEAL.

The Edgeworths appealed the reasonableness of the quantum meruit award. In its 2020 decision vacating Judge Jones' quantum meruit award, the Court said that "[w]hile the district court stated that it was applying the *Brunzell* factors for work performed only after the constructive

<sup>27, 2023,</sup> Simon finally relented and "agreed" to release the over \$1.5M that he had withheld from the Edgeworths since 2017.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In his "superbill," Simon tried to revise the amount for periods that he had previously invoiced and the Edgeworths had paid (05/28/16 – 9/18/17). The district court rejected this effort, as it found Simon's methodology *for the after-the-fact revisions to his prior invoices was not reliable*. AA0063. However, for the then-more-recent period (09/19/17 to 11/29/17), *the district court's implied contract award accepted the accuracy of Simon's superbill and credited him for every minute of the 696.25 hours he billed* (340.05 for Simon; 337.15 for Ferrel; and 19.05 for Miller). AA0064:15-23.

discharge, much of its analysis focused on Simon's work throughout the litigation." *Edgeworth Family Trust v. Simon*, 477 P.3d 1129 at \*2 (Nev. 2020) (Table) (emphasis added). The Court provided post-mandate guidance to the district court, pointing out that "[a]lthough there is evidence in the record that Simon . . . performed work after the constructive discharge, the district court did not explain how it used that evidence to calculate its award." *Id.* 

Following the Court's 2020 decision, before jurisdiction was returned to the court by remittitur, the district court entered a Second Amended Order addressing the quantum meruit award with essentially the same analysis this Court had rejected.<sup>8</sup>

#### C. THE EDGEWORTHS' SECOND APPEAL.

Following the decision and mandate in the first appeal, the Edgeworths' urged the district court to reconsider its premature Second Amended Order and its Third Amended Order to implement the Court's mandate by explaining the basis for the quantum meruit award and its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Second Amended Order was *void ab initio* because the district court entered it before the remittitur issued; after the remittitur, the court issued the nearly identical Third Amended Order, which was the subject of the Edgeworths' *second* direct appeal.

reasonableness without leaning on Simon's pre-discharge work, as this Court ordered. The Edgeworths pointed out to the district court that even if *all* of the post-discharge work detailed by Simon on his timesheets was credited at his implied contract rate, the reasonable value of those 71.10 hours of mostly administrative work *did not exceed* \$34,000. *See* AA1355-63 (Simon's 2023 briefs reiterating the billing set out in his 2018 "superbill"). The district court ignored that fact. *See* AA0743-47; AA0748-51; AA0753-57.

The record before the district court established *without* contradiction that Simon's 2018 superbill claimed he had expended a total of 71.10 hours (51.85 for Simon himself and 19.25 for his associate) for post-discharge work. AA0757; see also AA0743-47; AA0748-51. These hours, if reasonable and if not discounted for his misrepresentations, times Simon's rates in the implied contract would justify \$33,811.25 in fees. AA0757. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In the 2023 briefing, Simon himself presented the 71.10 hours as support for his quantum meruit award, as discussed *infra* at 28 *et. seq.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The key here is Simon's misrepresentations, which the district court would not even consider. Hard evidence of the extent Simon's misrepresentations recently began to emerge but only after this Court ordered him to produce the Edgeworths' file in 2022 which prior to that time he had refused to do, as

\$200,000 quantum meruit award summarily repeated by the district court in five post-appeal orders is *more than six times that amount,* and values the 71.10 hours at more than \$2,800 per hour,<sup>11</sup> which the court did not explain or even comment on.

Much of Simon's post-discharge work was administrative in nature, which did not require special skills to perform. AA0743-47; AA0748-51; AA0753-57. His post-discharge work can be fairly summarized as follows:

SUMMARY OF SIMON LAW'S POST-DISCHARGE WORK		
Administrative tasks re Lange Settlement (co-defendant	21.55	
in Viking action)		
Administrative tasks re Viking Settlement, including		
one hearing		
Preparation of Attorney Lien	4.85	
Opening Bank Account & Depositing Settlement Checks	7.25	
Undetermined - insufficient description	10.80	

See AA0757.

we specifically point out elsewhere in this brief. For this reason, it would be grossly **unfair to the Edgeworths** to compensate Simon at any rate for being untruthful with them and the district court (Judge Crockett, for example) when Simon represented that Judge Jones had "ordered" him to withhold settlement money that belonged to the Edgeworths to keep it "safe" while his lien case was pending. AA0827.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> \$200,000 / 71.10 = \$2,812.94.

Over seven hours to open a single two-signature bank account at a local bank is not reasonable (AA0755 green entries); nor is charging a client *nearly five hours* for preparing a short perfunctory attorney's lien *for Simon's benefit*. AA0753-57 (pink entries). And although Simon claims to have worked on the Viking settlement for over 26 hours and the Lange settlement for over 21 hours post-discharge, he previously acknowledged this work was completed *pre-discharge* or within the first week after his discharge. *See* AA0698; AA0718 (testimony that he was done "hammering out" terms by 11/27). The district court's findings confirm the dates. AA0050-54.

Despite the guidance provided by the Court in its first remand, the district court's Second and Third Amended Orders did not even acknowledge the Court's mandate to correct the defect in its 2018 order. The Edgeworths again appealed and this Court again vacated for the same flaw: the district court failed to specify the *post-discharge* work it considered was reasonably worth \$200,000. Instead, the court continued to support its *Brunzell* analysis by referencing Simon's *pre-discharge* work. After the September 16, 2022 order of reversal and remand issued, and *again* before

regaining jurisdiction through remittitur, the district court entered a "Fourth Amended Decision and Order on Motion to Adjudicate Lien," which suffers from the same defect as its previous three orders.

In its 2022 order on the Edgeworths' second appeal, vacating judgment and remanding, this Court mistakenly suggests the district court found Simon's entire superbill unreliable; it did not so find. As the record shows and is discussed at note 7, *supra*, the district court *accepted* the accuracy of Simon's superbill for the work between September 19 and November 29, 2017 that he detailed in his superbill *but had not yet invoiced*, and awarded him the *full amount* of fees claimed for that work. AA0064:15-AA0065:4. The district court merely found the superbill unreliable to *amend* earlier periods that Simon *had already invoiced* and the Edgeworths had paid. AA0062:11-AA0063:19.

# D. THE SECOND POST-MANDATE PROCEEDINGS THAT OCCASION THIS APPEAL SHOW SAME DEFECTS THAT CAUSED THE COURT TO REVERSE AND REMAND IN THE PRIOR TWO APPEALS.

The district court's premature Fourth Amended Order also largely ignored the instructions provided in the Court's two prior decisions

and mandates.<sup>12</sup> In fact, the district court's Fourth Amended Order even repeated the identical error made in its prior orders by adding costs *paid* by the Edgeworths in 2018 into the judgment. AA1745; see also AA1738 (confirming no costs are owed); *see* AA0108, AA0649, AA1341 (same error in Second, Third, and Fourth Amended Orders); AA0667 (the Edgeworths' 2021 effort to correct this error).

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