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

You can also have contract implied by the facts or conduct. That's an implied contract and that's not an express contract. So, it may be a little nuanced here, this distinction and as a practical matter when we get into the weeds on that, it may cut different ways, but as we go to the existence of the contract, the allegations of the underlying Complaint filed in the other case argue that an express contract was formed in May of 2000 -- in May of 2016. And that doesn't jive with the e-mail that was sent May 27th. It seems like -- you know, if you read that e-mail and take reasonable inferences from it, you say hey, I got this problem --

THE COURT: This is the e-mail between Mr. Edgeworth that was sent to Danny Simon.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Correct.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: It's attached as Exhibit A to the Reply --

THE COURT: No, I've read it. I just want to make sure--

1	MR. CHRISTENSEN: and it's also
2	THE COURT: we were talking about the same one.
3	MR. CHRISTENSEN: Right.
4	THE COURT: Yes.
5	MR. CHRISTENSEN: Exactly.
6	And so that raises this reasonable inference that they didn't
7	have an express oral contract at that time.
8	So, the case moves forward and suddenly becomes more
9	than just a simple claims process claim. There's a lot more involved.
10	And the first billing isn't sent up by Mr. Simon's office until something like
11	seven months later in December.
12	THE COURT: Was there an understanding between Mr.
13	Edgeworth and Mr. Simon as regards to when the billing would actually
14	occur?
15	MR. CHRISTENSEN: I don't believe that was well, on the
16	part of the law office, no
17	THE COURT: Okay.
18	MR. CHRISTENSEN: and I don't believe that that was
19	asserted on the part of Mr. Edgeworth.
20	THE COURT: Okay. And I mean, he didn't assert that, that's
21	a question that I have
22	MR. CHRISTENSEN: Right.
23	THE COURT: because as we talk about like how long it
24	took for the billings to begin and stuff like that, that was just a question
25	that I had.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Well -- and it's a good question, Your Honor, because when you do hourly work that's typically a material term. I mean, usually when doing hourly work you're getting billed within 30 to 60 days --

THE COURT: Right.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: -- if events are occurring and you know, then there's language in there about how quickly it's going to get paid, et cetera, et cetera.

In the alleged oral contract that the Edgeworths say existed, the only term they talk about is \$550 an hour. I cited the *Loma Linda* case, that's been law in Nevada for a long, long time. Even if you're asserting an oral contract and you've got one term that seemingly there's an agreement upon, if there's not agreement upon all the other terms, there's no contract. It's all or nothing. So, that's the position of the law firm that there was no contract.

As you move forward in time to August of 2017, when the case was obviously getting very hot and heavy in this courtroom --

THE COURT: Uh-huh.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: -- you can see that Mr. Simon, again, raised that issue because there was a lot more money being spent on the case, there was a lot more time being devoted to the case. He wanted to tie up that lose issue because, you know, he agreed to take the case and send some letters, you know, for a long family friend and didn't think it was going to be that big of a deal and now suddenly it is.

And it's dominating time at the law office, he's not working on

1	other files, it's become an issue. So he tries to address it. There's not
2	that much documentation of his attempts to
3	THE COURT: Well, that's
4	MR. CHRISTENSEN: address it.
5	THE COURT: was going to be my next question because I
6	have
7	MR. CHRISTENSEN: There are
8	THE COURT: the e-mail here from Brian Edgeworth, but
9	did Danny Simon respond to this e-mail or what did he do to address this
10	issue?
11	MR. CHRISTENSEN: My understanding of that e-mail is that
12	it's a standalone e-mail. In other words, it wasn't pulled out of a string of
13	e-mails
14	THE COURT: Okay.
15	MR. CHRISTENSEN: back and forth. I can't answer the
16	question concerning whether there were other e-mails that addressed
17	that. The e-mails literally are a stack how high? This high?
18	MR. SIMON: Higher.
19	MR. CHRISTENSEN: Higher. I did not go through them. At
20	least not yet. Hopefully I won't have to.
21	But this one e-mail that we pulled out appears to address that
22	issue on the head and that's why we attached it. It's Exhibit B to the
23	Reply.
24	THE COURT: Yes.
25	MR_CHRISTENSEN: It's in the other attached to the other

documents.

And a reasonable inference that you can draw from that e-mail is that there really wasn't a firm agreement. It's stated right out that we never had a structured discussion and that seems to match the conduct of the parties. So, even if we're going to go down the road to an implied contract, that matches the conduct of the parties. Not all things were getting billed, there were costs being fronted.

That's very rare for an hourly lawyer to do. And there were large amounts of costs being fronted. As a matter of fact, there are still some \$71,000 in costs outstanding. That's not typical behavior of an hourly lawyer and that's because Mr. Simon does not take hourly cases as a rule. You know, he takes cases where there -- where you address the fee at the end of the case and that's what we have here.

So and all of those facts -- to kind of segway back to the Motion to Consolidate, all of those issues are at play on the Motion for Adjudication. So there are common issues of fact and law that relate to that contract.

And there's another issue here that I wanted to bring up and that is the basic legal premise and the public policy against multiplicity of suits. It's enshrined in Rule 13, it's expressed in other ways through the law, and it's actually dug into by Leaventhal where Leventhal cited the *Gee* case out of Colorado. And it talked about the problem of creating multiple suits when there is a lien adjudication.

And it addresses it from the standpoint of judicial economy and it says -- the *Gee* case quotation that was cited by Leventhal, our

Supreme Court case says: To restrict the means of enforcement of an attorney's liens solely to independent civil actions would be a waste of judicial time, as well as contrary to the legislative intent reflected by the statutory language.

And it goes on to say: The trial judge heard the proceedings -Your Honor -- which gave rise to the lien is in a position to determine
whether the amount asserted as a lien is proper and can determine the
means for the enforcement of the lien.

And that dovetails exactly with our statutory language. The statute says the Court -- the statute says that the Court shall adjudicate the lien. There's no discretion in the word shall. Certainly there's discretion in the question of consolidation, that's a maybe question. But the question of adjudication I shall. So, this Court is going to have to address those issues.

Under the *Verner* case, which was cited by the Edgeworths, it's very interesting that was kind of an opposite fact scenario where a case was split up and the Supreme Court said no, you shouldn't have done that. And one of the reasons why is they said that there must be a demonstration that a bifurcated trial is clearly necessary to lessen costs and expedite litigation. That's not going to happen.

That's why all of this should be consolidated in one court because the case law is clear that Your Honor is the most knowledgeable that will promote judicial economy and we shouldn't lose on that. If we have two cases running on parallel tracks, there's going to be a lot of duplicity of effort, we're going to lose judicial economy.

 Now, the most natural reply for the Edgeworths is to say well, wait a second, under the Constitution we have a right to jury trial and that's true. There's nothing in consolidation that would prevent the proceeding of their action. That would have to be done by something else; by say a Motion to Dismiss. And there is nothing in the statute that prevents the proceeding of their contract claim, if they decide to do so after adjudication of the lien.

In fact, the statute, subsection 7, although it's looking at it from the attorney's point of view says this is not an exclusive remedy, you can file an independent action. There's nothing in the law that says that a lien cannot be adjudicated and then there can't be an independent action that addresses those same facts and law.

As a practical matter, obviously it may have an impact on the damages in the breach of contract case, depending upon how far we go in determination of facts and law in the adjudication process that could have fact or issue preclusion in the contract case, depending how it all works out; how the findings come out.

But that doesn't mean that both of these things can't operate at the same time. That doesn't create mutual exclusivity. Both of these remedies are available at the same time. By consolidating it, we can save a lot of time and effort. We don't have to go over tilled ground again. So, that's the argument on consolidation.

I -- if you'd like me to I can address some of the other factors that maybe lead to why we should either adjudicate today or set it for an evidentiary hearing to adjudicate in the near future.

THE COURT: Yeah. And if you could do that because when Mr. Vannah responded he responded to both, so I'm going to give him an opportunity to respond to both, based on the Opposition that he filed.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Okay. Very good, Your Honor.

So, I'm going to dip back into the well-known facts, just because I think it's necessary for a brief review so that we have a common ground of understanding.

So, Plaintiffs were building a house as an investment. Lange, the plumber installed Viking fire sprinklers, it was within the contracted work of the plumber and one of those sprinklers experienced a malfunction, flooded the house, damaged the house. All -- there is a contract between Lange and American Grating. Some of the terms of the contract same things like Lange has to assert warranty rights if there is a malfunction in an item installed in the home, things of that type and there's also an attorney fee provision and that becomes important as the case progresses.

At the early stage Lange said we're not going to do anything, it's Viking's fault. Mr. Edgeworth had not purchased any course of construction coverage or anything else that would have covered an incident like this. So, because of that decision he was obligated to go through this claims process against Viking and/or Lange. He was bumping his head up against the wall, started reaching out for legal assistance. Reached out to his friend. We saw the e-mail from Blake May.

The case obviously grew into a major litigation, contentious,

even. Lots of motion practice, lots of things going on. Around the middle of 2017, Mr. Simon approached Mr. Edgeworth and tried to get a resolution on this fee issue. He had a lot of costs fronted, he was eating up a lot of time at the office. They are not hourly billers, they do not have the standard hourly billing programs. It was a problem.

Mr. Edgeworth is a principal of two companies with an international footprint. He has another revenue stream from investment homes. He apparently has another revenue stream from various investments. He's experienced hiring and paying lawyers. I know that they done work in the IP, the intellectual property area, with copyrights for some of those companies, et cetera. He's not a typical lay person. He has dealt with lots of attorneys in the past.

And his response of August of 2017 has to be looked at in that light. This is not some guy who's getting bullied into something, here's a guy who's looking at it from a business perspective and sending out options. Well, we could do this. I could take out a loan and pay hourly on the whole case, which implies that he was not or else he wouldn't have brought it up. Discusses a hybrid, discusses a contingency, makes it clear that there's an open question on fees.

As the case moved on in November, after more motion practice, Mr. Simon has positioned the case well for success at trial. Mr. Simon has a meeting with Mr. Edgeworth prior to the mediation and shows him the amount of costs outstanding, which at the time were in the neighborhood of 76,000. I believe Mr. Edgeworth receive a copy of that, although that is portrayed by the Plaintiffs in their Opposition.

11

13

12

1415

16

17 18

19

2021

2223

24

25

Discussion was also raised about the fees, it was impressed that that's -- that issue, there was this mediation to take care of. After, as a result of the mediation a settlement is reached with Viking, for six million dollars. The total cost of the build was 3.3, including land acquisition, HOA fees and taxes. So that is an amazing recovery on a case where the property damage loss, depending upon how you look at it, between the hard and soft damages as Mr. Kemp went through that analysis in his declaration, you know, range from three quarters of a million to a million and a half or thereabouts, in that range. That's an amazing result.

As a result of that amazing result, Mr. Simon again returned to that fee discussion and at that time client communication started to break down.

THE COURT: This is November of 2017, right?

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Correct, Your Honor.

The culminated in -- at the end of November there was a fax sent from Mr. Vannah's office signed by Mr. Edgeworth saying -- in essence, talk to Mr. Vannah, he's now in power to do whatever on the case. The following day in response to that letter the law firm filed its first attorney's lien and soon perfected it under the statute.

We then come to an issue that's been raised because of a factual argument made by the Plaintiffs and it has to deal with the attorney fee claim that existed under contract against Lange. By its very nature that claim was not set until the Viking resolution was made because arguably under that contract, if Lange is supposed to pursue

7

8 9 10

11 12

13

14

15 16

17

18 19

20 21

22 23

24

25

remedy against Viking for the Edgeworths and Lange says we're not going to do that, Mr. Homeowner, you have to do that and the homeowner expends fees and costs to do that job, then under that contract he -- the homeowner is due those fees and costs because Lange said I know we have this contract term, we're not going to abide by it.

So, it doesn't really matter if a December billing is incomplete because the story is -- isn't ended, the story's still ongoing. There was an argument that because Mr. Simon didn't do complete billings as the case went along that somehow he had damaged the case -- the value of the case. Hard to imagine with the result, but that argument is made. And that's simply not true because of that underlying contract.

There was a potential for a claim against Lange to recover every penny spent. Now, Lange would have argued, well, some of that is not reasonable or it's due to a different claim or whatever, but there was a potential for a great case against Lange under that contract and that was not ripe and that number was not certain until the settlement with Viking occurred.

So as a result those -- if those attorney's fees had been settled in a timely manner, as requested by Mr. Simon, then they would have had that number as a sum certain to pursue against Lange.

To understand that little bit further you have to go back into this whole thing about how you get attorney's fees, so, you know, we got the English rule that loser pays. Well, we don't follow that, we follow the American rule that everybody bears their own fees and costs. That's

changed by certain things. For example, if you have an offer of judgment and you're able to go through all the *Batey* factors and all that stuff, that's a tough road to go for fees. It's rarely granted.

The other one is if you have a right for fees under a contract and in a claim against Lange, because those would be damages under the contract, you've got a direct claim. That's not something that's, you know, handled by the Court at the end of the case under a fee-shifting statute, like you might have a consumer protection statute or a civil rights statute or something of that type. That's a direct claim and it's not ripe until the case against Viking is settled.

So as a practical matter what would have happened in the case in this court is there would have been the resolution with Viking and then if they decided to pursue that contract claim there would have had to been disclosure of the sum certain that would have had to been added to damages. Undoubtedly that would have been bumped the trial date because Lange would have said wait a second, we need to respond to this, we want to explore these damages and then that case would have progressed.

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